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Item 10 of AMC subsection 4.60.260B states that the Homelessness, Housing, and 
Neighborhood Development Commission (HHAND), is charged with providing the Anchorage 
Assembly and Mayor with an annual report to address homelessness. The Municipality has a 
number of groups charged with overseeing homelessness, including the Mayor’s task force on 
homelessness, the Assembly work group on homelessness, the Anchorage Coalition to End 
Homelessness, and countless other State and local organizations committed to the cause of 
ending homelessness.  
 
That said, as a publicly appointed commission, we at HHAND feel that we have a unique role to 
play in oversight and review of the Municipality’s response to homelessness. Our neighbors 
perceive, and the data confirms, that homelessness has not abated, despite tremendous 
resources put toward it from federal grants and programs, state resources, and municipal funds 
totaling hundreds of millions of dollars annually. COVID-19 has acutely redirected the focus of 
most Municipal resources related to homelessness as well. As a commission made up of 
residents of impacted neighborhoods, advocates for programs and services, and people 
working in related fields, we intend to bear on the issue with a variety of perspectives, in hopes 
to advance the discussion and seek better results from the resources we put toward the issue. 
 
The timing of our report coincides with two important items: The gap analysis from the 
Anchorage Coalition to End Homelessness (ACEH), and the Assembly’s initiative to direct 
funding from the new alcohol tax. The gap analysis provides data related to immediate needs in 
supporting people stuck in the continuum of homelessness. The alcohol tax provides an 
opportunity for many organizations to come forward looking to advance their programs and 
services. As a commission, our goal is to provide qualitative direction to the Mayor and 
Assembly as to how to deploy the many resources that are available. 
 
Since our first report in October 2019, we have focused on the third pillar of Anchored Home, 
the Municipality’s plan to address homelessness. The third pillar, Public Health and Safety, is 
the purview of the Municipality of Anchorage, and we have committed a portion of each of our 
public meetings to investigating the Municipality’s role in Anchored Home. The rest of this 



 

 

report is devoted to our findings, in hopes that they can provide a qualitative accompaniment 
to the data provided by the gap analysis from ACEH. 
 
This report is not comprehensive. As a volunteer commission without significant staff support, 
we are unable to do more than provide another set of eyes to issue. We have spent the last six 
meetings looking at the Municipality’s role in responding to homelessness and have identified 
gaps that we see in the framework the City is developing. As such, we hope that the following 
areas get more attention and focus as the Mayor and Assembly consider how to deploy 
resources toward homelessness. It should also be noted that these notes are the interpretation 
of the HHAND commission, and not necessarily the testimony of the named individuals. 
 
AHD and the Consolidated Plan: Janet Johnston and James Boehm 
- approximately $4MM is directed through the consolidated plan 
- there are lots of compliance hoops to jump through, preventing smaller organizations from 
applying for grants 
- staff support is limited, preventing significant technical assistance with compliance and 
application 
- input and direction on execution of the consolidated plan are limited, especially considering 
compliance issues 
Recommendations: 
- consider more resources to assist organizations in applying for HUD funding 
- utilize GAP analysis from ACEH to assist in prioritizing direction of funds 
 
Mayor’s Task Force/MOA/Public Health and Safety: Nancy Burke 
- City is tasked with abatement, allocating resources, responding to acute situations 
- idea is to create space for longer term solutions, provided by others with Municipal support 
- data collection and coordination is not happening between DOC/Partners/and AKHMIS 
- there is a shortage of housing/beds for single adult chronic homeless 
Recommendations: 
- utilize GAP analysis to direct resources, with attention to details responding to community 
concerns/comments 
- see recommendations under abatement/MIT/CAP and commission comments 
 
CAP team: Officer Jones 
- she is the only CAP officer on staff at the time of her testimony (others were pulled off task or 
on leave) 
- CAP team is responsible for abatement and citations of infractions, trespass, code 
enforcement  
- CAP team does not deal with stolen property 
- has witnessed significant untreated mental health issues, substance abuse 
- abatement does not happen in the winter 
- 10-day abatement notice gives campers time to move, resulting in a game of “whack amole” 
- abatements have the unintended consequence of driving campers deeper into the woods, 
where it is more difficult to provide resources and provide for health and safety 



 

 

- perhaps 10% of campers are criminals. 
Recommendations: 
- increase funding for both MIT and CAP 
- find ways to accommodate campers until permanent solutions can be provided, to prevent 
campers from going further into the woods 
- change interaction with campers to provide for enhanced health and safety, both for campers 
and for the public 
- provide a way for the public to report stolen property/identify stolen property in the camps 
 

Mobile Intervention Team: Melina Breland, APD 
- the Mobile Intervention Program was embedded within the Municipality approximately three 
(3) years ago with the Homeless Camp Outreach 

- the team would circle the city and abatement sites to check in with individuals and refer them 
to shelters. However, the team did not operate using a caseload list, making it difficult to follow 
up on the City as a whole 
- the program no longer does camp outreach  
- having Coordinated Entry Packets and Homeless Action Response Team (HART) Forms used by 
APD resulted in duplication of questioning that was not helpful. Homeless individuals are often 
facing substance abuse and mental health issues; some have criminal backgrounds, and some 
do not 
- many have multiple substance abuse and/or mental diagnoses and there is a significant 
difference between summer and winter months regarding needs 
- the current need is for more general outreach because there are grants allotted to specific 
populations 
- currently there is only one grant that allows for general outreach 

- generally, pushing the camps deeper into the woods does make efforts more difficult, 
however with the camp reporting app we are able to pinpoint where those camps are  
- verified that they are no longer doing camp outreach  
- sanitation of the camp is really the only safety issue the program has noted at this time. A 
question on general safety issues within the camps was deferred to APD  
- everyone needs more staffing. The program is transitioning into new role and members are 
mindful that additional staffing should not be requested during the interim  
- there is funding for one position. At this time they are widening the recruiting search to fill it. 
- Mobile Intervention is now working with the high utilizers of emergency resources and/or 
people who are in acute psychiatric distress 
- the team works closely with the fire department to prevent redundancy or duplication. 
- they respond to the medical needs component and refer individuals to services that meet 
their level of need 

Recommendations: 
-increase outreach into homeless camps, either through MIT or other organizations to bring 
into AKHMIS 
-the goal should be two-way: to increase the by-name list, and to get people into help and 
programs 



 

 

Other Commissioner recommendations: 

-when the Municipality contracts with an organization for shelter (Brother Francis or Beans 
Cafe), there are going to be off-site impacts that result from the gathering of individuals that 
need to get served. The Municipality is still responsible for the safety and wellbeing of the 
businesses and residents around homeless services, and is currently failing to provide safety 
around the services. This will make it harder for the municipality to place distributed services 
throughout the Anchorage Bowl 

- the capacity of Sullivan Arena means that there is no excuse for leaving camps unabated. 
However, abatement needs to happen in a way that does not drive campers further into the 
woods 

- the Municipality should consider ways to make camping safer for both campers and the public 

- petty theft by campers is a significant problem in the neighborhoods surrounding camps. 
Currently, the municipality is failing to respond to this 
 
Respectfully submitted 
Homeless, Housing and Neighborhood Development Commission 
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